FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/17/2019 3:29 PM

97096-3

NO. 76405-5-I

DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

King County Case No. 09-2-12732-8 SEA

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurance company,

Plaintiff/Respondent/Cross Appellant,

v.

ADMIRAL WAY, LLC, et al.,

Defendant/Appellant,

٧.

AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL SPECIALTY LINES INSURANCE COMPANY, INC., et al.,

Third-Party Defendants/Respondents.

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Admiral Way, LLC ("Admiral Way") files this petition for review.

II. DECISION BELOW

Admiral Way seeks review of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, filed December 10, 2018, in *Zurich American Insurance Company v. Ledcor Industries (USA) Inc. v. Admiral Way, LLC*, No. 76405-5-I, a copy of which is attached as Appendix 1. The Court of Appeals denied petitioners' timely motion for clarification and/or reconsideration on March 18, 2019 of the original unpublished decision filed on December 10, 2018, although it withdrew and substituted the current unpublished opinion. *See* Appendix 2.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In *Mutual of Enumclaw v. Dan Paulson Const., Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d 903, 915-16, 169 P.3d 1 (2007), this Court held: "While defending under a reservation of rights, an insurer acts in bad faith if it pursues a declaratory judgment that it has no duty to defend and that action might prejudice its insured's tort defense."

In this case, Zurich provided Admiral Way with a defense under a reservation of rights in a construction defect lawsuit. While

that action was pending, Zurich filed this declaratory judgment action and moved for summary judgment seeking adjudication of facts that were directly relevant to some of the claims in the ongoing construction defect lawsuit. Zurich's prayer for relief included the request that it may "withdraw for the defense of Admiral Way, and recover the fees and expenses Zurich American has incurred in providing that defense."

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Admiral Way's bad faith claim against Zurich. The principal bases for the decision were: that this Court has endorsed the filing of declaratory judgment actions as a means of adjudicating an insurer's duty to defend; many years had elapsed between the filing of the underlying suit and the declaratory action, and the latter relied upon evidence that was already available to the parties; Zurich's actions did not interfere with the underlying action to the detriment of Admiral Way; and Admiral Way remained independently represented by counsel of its choice. Opin. at 23.

The Court of Appeals opinion raises the following issues:

 Does the filing of a motion in a parallel declaratory action that is adverse to the insured's defense in the underlying action constitute direct interference with the insured's

defense under Mutual of Enumclaw v. Dan Paulsen Const., Inc., 161 Wn.2d 903, 915, 169 P.3d 1 (2007)?

2. Is the Court of Appeals opinion that Admiral Way failed to show it suffered actual detriment as a result of the Zurich's adverse and potentially prejudicial actions in conflict with this Court's opinions in *Safeco Insurance v. Butler,* 188 Wn.2d 383, 823 P.2d 499 (1992), and *Mutual of Enumclaw v. Dan Paulson Const., Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d 903, 169 P.3d 1 (2007), recognizing a presumption of harm when an insurer acts in bad faith while defending under reservation?

Admiral Way respectfully submits the above issues warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Construction of The Admiral.

On April 3, 2001, Admiral Way, LLC entered into a construction contract with Ledcor Industries, Inc. to act as the general contractor for construction of The Admiral, a mixed-use, four-story building, including street-level retail anchored by a Bartell's drug store, 60 condominium units, five apartments, and a two-level underground parking garage. CP 1223-1275.

The contract required Ledcor to "secure and maintain throughout the term of this Agreement," insurance policies to protect Admiral Way from liability, in the amount of no less than \$2,000,000, and to "insure the hazards of and operations of independent contractors, contractual liability (covering the indemnification contained in this Agreement) and [to] name [Admiral Way] as an additional insured" This insurance was to be "primary and non-contributing with any other insurance available to" Admiral Way. CP 1275 (Contract Exhibit G).

The contract's indemnification provision obligated Ledcor to indemnify and hold Admiral Way harmless from claims "arising from or resulting from such claims of third parties in any way arising out of or in connection with the performance of this Agreement." *Id*.

B. Morrison Hershfield investigation.

In 2001, Admiral Way retained building envelope consultant Morrison Hershfield ("MH") to provide recommendations to the project architect with respect to balcony and wall interface details. Subsequently, MH was retained by Ledcor to consult on various aspects of the project. These consultations resulted in a number of reports addressing the water tight integrity of the building's design and construction.

In late 2002, MH prepared a report entitled "Admiral Way Mixed Use Project Building Envelope Assessment," which was presented to Ledcor near the end of December. As stated in that report, "[a]t this time we understand there remain a number of outstanding issues with respect to the construction of the envelope assembly for which the Owners and Ledcor are seeking resolution while providing a durable system of protection against water infiltration." CP 304-336.

The report included a review of existing conditions, design documents, a site review, and recommendations for potential design changes. CP 335. MH concluded there were "significant areas where there is inappropriate design, and to a lesser degree inappropriate construction that in our opinion makes the building high risk for premature envelope failure." *Id.* Although the report cites many instances of what it considered inadequate design or construction presenting a "high risk of premature failure," it does not describe the presence of ongoing property damage as of December 2002.

After reviewing the December MH report, Admiral Way's architect, Carl Pirscher, advised that the report was based upon incomplete architectural drawings, its conclusions were incorrect,

and implementation of the least invasive of MH's recommendations would provide for an adequate, watertight design. CP 784; CP 2316-2323.

C. The COA lawsuit and alleged defects.

On February 28, 2007, the Admiral Way Condominium Owners' Association ("COA") sent Admiral Way an Amended Notice of Construction Defect Claim pursuant to RCW 64.50 alleging that the building, or components of the building, were defectively designed and/or constructed, resulting in water intrusion that affected residential units, commercial spaces and common areas throughout the project. CP2778-2791. This notice was followed by the filing of a complaint on July 12, 2007. CP 182-189.

The COA's Complaint contained six causes of action against Admiral Way: (1) breach of implied warranties; (2) breach of express warranties; (3) violation of duty to provide documentation; (4) failure to maintain common elements; (5) failure to disclose information; and (6) violation of Washington's Consumer Protection Act. *Id.*

The COA claimed damages included the cost of investigating and developing a scope of repair, the cost of repair, design professional costs, loss of use and loss in market value. *Id.*

With respect to the occurrence of property damage, the complaint alleged the property damage was "continuous and ongoing throughout the Condominium" and "may have commenced at or shortly after the completion of each building or element of infrastructure, and may be continuing to the present." CP 184. Accordingly, although the COA asserted that property damage was continuous and ongoing as of 2007, it did not allege when the damage commenced or when it stopped. And, it did not allege when the defective work that caused property damages was performed.

In Cause of Action E – Failure to Disclose, the COA alleged Admiral Way "possessed (or in the exercise of reasonable care, should have possessed) or possesses certain information requiring disclosure under RCW 64.34.404 and 64.34.410. For example, Declarant should, in the exercise of reasonable care, have known or knew of various physical hazards which were not readily ascertainable by the purchaser." CP 187. This alleged violation formed part of the basis for plaintiffs' Consumer Protection Act claim for which they sought treble damages on a per unit basis. *Id.*

Admiral Way filed a third party complaint in the construction defect action against general contractor Ledcor seeking

indemnification pursuant to the construction contract. CP 282-292. Ledcor denied the allegations and asserted as an affirmative defense, among other things, that the damage was a result of building design.

D. Admiral Way's Tender and Zurich's Acceptance of the Duty to Defend.

Admiral Way tendered defense of the COA complaint to numerous insurers. Zurich accepted Admiral Way's tender under a reservation of rights on September 10, 2007, agreeing to pay one half of Admiral Way's defense costs. CP 1407-1413.

E. The Declaratory Judgment Action.

On March 17, 2009, Zurich filed a declaratory judgment action against Admiral Way and Ledcor. CP 7-15. Zurich sought a declaration that it did not owe indemnity coverage to Admiral Way or Ledcor. *Id.* In the complaint, Zurich specifically stated that there was no coverage for the claims in the underlying action because there was no "property damage' caused by an 'occurrence,' and because "a qualifying person or employee was aware of property damage before one or both of the Zurich American policies came into effect." CP 16–17. Then, on July 24, 2009, while the underlying construction defect action was still pending, Zurich filed a motion for summary judgment seeking a declaration that it had no duty to defend or indemnify Admiral Way and seeking recoupment of the defense costs it had paid in the COA lawsuit. CP 2159-2183. The MH reports were the centerpiece of Zurich's motion. Indeed, Zurich observed, "[e]ventually, the same problems that concerned MH and that Ledcor attempted to fix formed the basis for many of the Owners' Association's claims in its subsequent lawsuit against Admiral Way." As pertinent to this petition, in that motion Zurich made the following factual arguments:

• Throughout the course of construction of The Admiral and up to the date the first Zurich policy was issued numerous design and construction problems were identified that were causing water intrusion damage and would likely continue to do so if not remedied. CP-2160.

• Admiral Way knew of the ongoing damage. CP-2162.

• Admiral Way was aware of potential problems with the building envelope design. CP-2167.

• MH's "Building Envelope Owners Manual - Admiral Way," prepared in May 2003, detailed substantial construction problems. CP-2170.

• In its December 2002 "Building Envelope Assessment," MH identified problems with the design and/or construction of the: stucco clad assembly; metal siding clad assembly; Hard siding clad assembly; balcony and deck assemblies; coping details; window details; balcony and base of wall details; and slab edge details. CP-2171.

• Water intrusion began at The Admiral almost from the beginning of construction and continued to the day the Owners' Association filed its lawsuit against Admiral Way. CP-2178.

• Continuous property damage alleged in the Underlying Action and indisputably pre-dated the inception of the first Zurich policy in December 2005. CP-2179.

• Property damage clearly occurred before the inception of Zurich's first policy in December 2005, evidenced by the many reports of water intrusion, Ledcor's remediation efforts and MH's warnings. CP-2182.

F. Settlement of Construction Defect Action.

Four days after Zurich filed its motion for summary judgment,

the parties settled the underlying case for \$4.7 million. Of that

amount, Admiral Way contributed \$2 million. CP 2938-2939.

Thus, at the time of the settlement, Admiral Way was defending two lawsuits, and faced the prospect not only of a substantial uninsured judgment, but also the prospect of having to reimburse Zurich for approximately \$300,000 in defense costs that it had paid. Facing less exposure to its assets, Admiral Way might have been in a better position to negotiate a settlement that called for a smaller payment from its own assets. The declaratory judgment action and the attendant motion for summary judgment placed Admiral Way and its counsel in vulnerable and uncertain

position. Marc Gartin, managing member of Admiral Way,

described the dilemma as follows:

A. [S]ince I had no insurance company stepping up and protecting me, as I thought I would and should, since I was additional insured on all these policies, I felt that I had to protect my other assets. If I was going to end up in court and going to have a much larger judgment put against me, I was hung out to dry. Nobody was there, I was alone, and I have other assets that I didn't want to lose, so I tried to cut my losses and say, For now, if this is what it takes to save me, so I don't lose everything in my family's assets, my parents, then I better find a way to solve this.

CP 3125.

G. The Trial Court's Grant of Zurich's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Zurich's initial motion, first filed in 2009, was re-noted following the settlement of the construction defect lawsuit. The trial court later granted a renewed motion dismissing Admiral Way's counter claims for bad faith, consumer protection act and insurer fair conduct act. CP 1549-53. The basis for the ruling was not disclosed in the order. Subsequently, the court dismissed Admiral Way's claim for breach of contract on the ground that Admiral Way was not an additional insured under Zurich's policy. CP 2071-74.

H. The Court of Appeals Decision.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Zurich's dismissal. The Court framed the issue as whether "Zurich engaged in any action which would demonstrate a greater concern for the insurer's monetary interest than for the insured's financial risk," Opin. at 22, and concluded that Zurich "did not act in bad faith in defending Admiral Way, and did not unreasonably deny coverage or fail to investigate." Opin. at 24. The Court's reasoning is set forth in a single paragraph:

> We reject Admiral Way's argument that the Supreme Court intended in <u>Mutual of Enumclaw</u> to bar initiating all declaratory judgment actions until after all settlement and litigation of the insured is completed. In this case, Zurich's declaratory judgment action occurred years after the original complaint, after the parties in the underlying complaint had already attended multiple mediations, and relied on substantially the same evidence as was already available to the parties. Moreover, unlike in <u>Mutual of Enumclaw</u>, Zurich did not interfere with the underlying action to the detriment of its insured. Admiral Way remained independently represented by counsel of its choice, funded by Zurich, and there was no evidence that the mediation was affected by Zurich's actions.

Opin. at 23.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals framed the dispute as whether Zurich

engaged in any action which would "demonstrate a greater concern

for the insurer's monetary interest than for the insured's financial

risk." Opin. at 22. While true, this Court has articulated a more particularized standard of conduct for insurers filing declaratory actions while providing a defense under reservation of rights; namely, that an insurer must "avoid seeking adjudication of factual matters disputed in the underlying litigation because advocating a position adverse to its insured's interests would 'constitute bad faith on its part." *Mutual of Enumclaw v. Dan Paulson Const., Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d 903, 914-15, 169 P.3d 1 (2007) (quoting 1 A. Windt, *Insurance Claims & Disputes: Representation of Insurance Companies and Insured* § 8:3, at 8-11 to -12 (5th ed.2007).

The Court of Appeals acknowledged Admiral Way's reliance on this precedent, but mischaracterized Admiral Way's position: "We reject Admiral Way's argument that the Supreme Court intended in *Mutual of Enumclaw* to bar initiating all declaratory judgment actions until after all settlement and litigation of [sic] the insured is completed." Opin. at 23. This has never been Admiral Way's contention. Admiral Way is claiming that Zurich acted in bad faith by making factual arguments in its summary judgment motion that were adverse to Admiral Way's interests in the underlying action.

A. The Court of Appeals' narrow interpretation of "interfere in the underlying action" is inconsistent with this Court's decision in *Dan Paulson*.

The Court of Appeals distinguished *Dan Paulson* on the ground "Zurich did not interfere with the underlying action to the detriment of its insured." Although Dan Paulson did involve an insurer interfering in the underlying action by subpoenaing and initiating ex parte communications with the arbitrator, the holding should not be limited to that factual scenario. The touchstone for bad faith is taking action while defending under reservation that "might prejudice its insured's tort defense." Dan Paulson, at 918. As this Court observed, MOE was asserting a factual position in the declaratory judgment action contrary to Dan Paulson's interests in the arbitration. "To the extent that MOE prevailed, it would have directly prejudiced DPCI's position in the arbitration, clearly an act of bad faith." Id. at 918. This statement by the Court presupposes that an insurer's actions in a parallel declaratory action that are adverse to the insured's interests in the underlying action may constitute a direct interference that triggers bad faith liability. As the Dan Paulson Court further explained:

[The insurer] MOE did risk a bad faith claim if it *litigated coverage issues* with [its insured] DPCI prior to the arbitration hearing. While defending under a reservation of rights, an insurer acts in

bad faith if it <u>pursues a declaratory judgment</u> that it has no duty to defend and <u>that "action</u> might prejudice its insured's tort defense." Thomas v. Harris, *Washington Insurance Law* § 14.2, at 14-4 (2d ed. 2006).

Id. at 918 (emphasis added). Although Zurich did not intercede in the underlying action in the way that MOE did, its actions in the declaratory action were just as inimical to its insured's defense in the underlying action.

B. Zurich's actions in the declaratory judgment action were adverse and potentially prejudicial to Admiral Way's position in the underlying lawsuit.

Zurich arguments in the declaratory action were adverse to Admiral Way's interests in two ways. First, Admiral Way defended itself against the COA's multi-million dollar claims by contending that the claimed construction defects were either nonexistent or minimal. As noted above, Zurich's motion against Admiral Way, asserted that the defects on the project were numerous and longstanding, known to Admiral Way, and the property damage was caused in whole or in part by alleged defects in the design of The Admiral. CP 2159-2183. Zurich's position dovetailed neatly with the COA's positions in the underlying action and enhanced the COA's bargaining position as the parties went into a mediation just four days later.

Second, Zurich's motion provided potential defenses to both Ledcor and to its subcontractors. A defense to construction defect claim that attributes damage to the design as opposed to the means and manner of construction is known as a "Spearin doctrine" defense. The Spearin Doctrine protects contractors and subcontractors and is generally used as a defense to an owner's claim of defective and non-conforming work. It holds that if a contractor builds a structure according to the owner's plans and specifications, and the structure does not function as intended, the contractor is not responsible. When defects in the plans and specifications are the cause of the problem, Spearin shifts the responsibility to the owner. This is often referred to as "the owner's implied warranty" of the adequacy of the plans and specifications. See Prier v. Refrigeration Eng'g Co., 74 Wn.2d 25, 29, 442 P.2d 621 (1968) (furnisher of designs and specifications for a construction project warrants by implication that the designs are sufficient for the intended purpose); see also Hoye v. Century Builders, Inc., 52 Wn.2d 830, 833, 329 P.2d 474 (1958); Md. Casualty Co. v. Seattle, 9 Wn.2d 666, 116 P.2d 280 (1941); Donald B. Murphy Contractors, Inc. v. State, 40 Wn. App. 98, 696 P.2d 1270 (1985).

Zurich's arguments and the evidence it marshalled, including a fulsome exposition of the Morrison Hershfield documents that it contended supports its arguments, was potentially detrimental to Admiral Way's defense against the claims in the underlying actions and its effort to enforce its contractual rights to indemnification from both Ledcor and Ledcor's subcontractors. Moreover, they were qualitatively similar to the arguments this Court found to be actionable in *Dan Paulson*:

MOE sought to establish which claimed defects were excluded from coverage because they resulted from work performed by DPCI. Simultaneously, DPCI was contesting liability for *any* defects in the underlying arbitration action. To the extent that MOE prevailed, it would have directly prejudiced DPCI's position in the arbitration, clearly an act of bad faith.

Dan Paulson, at 915-16. To the extent that Zurich were to have

prevailed on its motion, it would have directly prejudiced Admiral

Way's position in the underlying action, "clearly an act of bad faith."

Dan Paulson Const., Inc., 161 Wn.2d at 918.

C. The Court of Appeals finding that Admiral Way suffered no detriment from Zurich's actions is inconsistent with the presumption of harm analysis recognized in *Safeco Insurance v. Butler,* 188 Wn.2d 383, 823 P.2d 499 (1992), and *Mutual of Enumclaw v. Dan Paulson Const., Inc.,* 161 Wn.2d 903, 169 P.3d 1 (2007).

The Court of Appeals found Admiral Way suffered no "detriment" as a result of Zurich's actions and that "there was no evidence that the mediation was affected by Zurich's actions." Opin. at 23. But under the analytical framework established in Dan Paulson, the proper inquiry is whether the insurer's actions "might prejudice the insured's position in the underlying litigation." Dan Paulson, at 915-16. If so, bad faith is established as a matter of law, and harm is presumed. Dan Paulson, 161 Wn.2d at 921; Safeco Insurance v. Butler, 188 Wn.2d 383, 823 P.2d 499 (1992). This is so because "[a]s between the insured and the insurer, it is the insurer that controls whether it acts in good faith or bad. Therefore, it is the insurer that appropriately bears the burden of proof with respect to the consequences of that conduct." Dan Paulson, at 921. In Dan Paulson, this Court held the presumption of harm had not been rebutted because "MOE did not prove that its subpoena and *ex parte*

communications with the arbitrator prior to and during the arbitration hearing "did not harm or prejudice [DPCI]. To the contrary, the record supports that MOE's conduct caused significant uncertainty and increased risk for DPCI's defense." *Id.* at 922.

Moreover, despite the fact the Zurich had the burden of rebutting the presumption of harm under *Safeco v. Butler* and *Dan Paulson*, Admiral Way did submit evidence that Zurich's conduct effected the outcome of the mediation. *See supra* at 10-11. Admiral Way's evidence of harm is qualitatively equivalent to the showing in *Dan Paulson*. Looking back, we cannot know how the mediation would have played out absent Zurich's pending summary judgment motion, and that is ultimately the point. "The course cannot be rerun, no amount of evidence will prove what might have occurred if a different route had been taken." *Safeco Ins. Co. v. Butler*, 118 Wn.2d 383, 391, 823 P.2d 499 (1992) (quoting *Transamerica Ins. Group v. Chubb & Sons, Inc.*, 16 Wash. App. 247, 252, 554 P.2d 1080 (1976)).

VI. CONCLUSION

Admiral Way respectfully requests that this Court review the Court of Appeals decision affirming Zurich's dismissal. The decision

below not only conflicts with published Washington Supreme Court precedence but promotes a contrary policy that would allow insurers to act in bad faith in declaratory judgment actions.

Admiral Way requests the Court reverse the Court of Appeals decision and rule that Zurich's conduct constitutes bad faith and that it failed to rebut the presumption of harm. The case should be remanded to the trial court for a determination of damages.