# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/17/2019 2:38 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97096-3

(Court of Appeals No. 76405-5-I)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, Respondent/Cross-Appellant

VS.

ADMIRAL WAY, LLC, Appellant

RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWER TO ADMIRAL WAY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Jacquelyn A. Beatty, WSBA #17567
Robert A. Radcliffe, WSBA #19035
KARR TUTTLE CAMPBELL
701 Fifth Ave., Ste. 3300
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 223-1313
Attorneys for Respondent/Cross-Appellant
Zurich American Insurance Company

#

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

# A. Division One Had A Complete Record Before It and Correctly Determined The LLC's Bad Faith Claim Was Unsustainable As A Matter of Law

The LLC's theory that Zurich's motion was filed in bad faith is factually insupportable and is unsustainable as a matter of law. An insurer does not act improperly merely by disputing coverage. *Sharbono v. Universal Underwriters Ins. Co.*, 139 Wn. App. 383, 161 P.3d 406 (2007), *review denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1055 (2008). This Court has specifically instructed insurers that the best course of action when disputing a duty to defend is to (1) defend under a reservation of rights and (2) file a declaratory judgment action to obtain a judicial declaration of the insurer's obligation. *Truck Ins. Exch. v. VanPort Homes, Inc.*, 147 Wn.2d 751, 761, 58 P.3d 276 (2002). The LLC

appears to want this Court to establish a bright line rule, which the *Dan Paulson* case did not do, that insurers must stay any declaratory judgment action on the duties to defend and indemnify until the underlying liability is fully resolved. Such a rule is unjustified.

The indisputable facts demonstrate that Zurich's filing of a summary judgment motion in this action during the summer of 2009 did nothing to prejudice the LLC's position in the underlying case. Zurich's reservation of rights letter, sent in 2007, had given the LLC nearly two years' warning that although it would defend the LLC, Zurich contested coverage and would not pay indemnity. CP 1053-59. Zurich did not develop or "marshal" new evidence, and then put such evidence in the record, to its *alleged* insured's detriment. Every document supporting Zurich's motion was part of the public record in the underlying case in which the parties had already filed cross motions for summary judgment against each other. The LLC's assertion that Zurich sought factual findings that would enhance the value of the COA's case in chief, is nothing more than attorney argument, borrowed from Ledcor, and lacks any evidentiary support.

While the LLC's Marc Gartin may have felt pressure during the mediation to settle, there is no evidence Zurich's motion was the cause. There

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The LLC's Petition at p. 17.

is nothing in the record indicating the mediator used the pending coverage action or summary judgment motion to pressure the LLC into settlement. *See generally* Gartin deposition testimony at CP 1016-18. And, nothing about Zurich's position regarding coverage for the LLC had changed during the summer of 2009 when the second mediation took place.

There was, however, a new pressure on the LLC during this time. It came from American Home, which had been defending the LLC along with Zurich for nearly two years, but without a reservation of rights – until it sent the LLC such a letter on the eve of the second mediation. CP 1066, 1070-82. The LLC may have been wronged, but Zurich was not the culprit.

Although the LLC has argued that Zurich pressed issues on summary judgment that were prejudicial to it in the underlying action, the LLC has not and cannot point to any fact, argument, or proposed order put forward by Zurich that possibly could have affected the outcome of the COA case. Summary judgment motions do not adjudicate contested facts, and the legal issues in this insurance coverage case and the claims asserted against the LLC in the underlying construction defect case were entirely different. Nothing to be decided on Zurich's motion – which was based on Zurich's contention that The Admiral was a residential building, and on the existence of allegations (made by the LLC and Ledcor against each other, and by the COA) that property damage preceded the issuance of Zurich's

policies—would have had any *res judicata* or collateral estoppel value in the underlying action. Both doctrines require identity of issues, which is completely absent here.

Moreover, nothing in Zurich's summary judgment filing disclosed information about the underlying COA case that was not already known to all parties to that case. Coverage under the Zurich policies was not at issue in the COA action, so there was not even a theoretical possibility that Zurich's summary judgment motion could have harmed the LLC's position in that action. The absence of even a possibility of harm confirms Zurich acted in good faith.

The LLC asserts it was prejudiced under the "Spearin doctrine" because evidence of design defects would tend to inculpate a property owner like the LLC. This is more attorney argument and speculation. The LLC has cited no evidence that Zurich's summary judgment motion made any design arguments and would otherwise establish any facts adverse to the LLC. The LLC's "design liability," if any, would have had nothing to do with whether The Admiral was a condominium, or whether the claims against the LLC were for continuous injury that preceded Zurich's first policy. That such injury was alleged was no secret to anyone in July 2009 when Zurich filed its motion. It was part of the LLC's affirmative claim against Ledcor. CP 277-92. (The "continuous injury" endorsement in the

Zurich policies had no knowledge component. CP 97. The only requirement was that property damage preexisted Zurich's policies, which neither LLC nor Ledcor disputed.)

Having adopted a consistent, clearly stated, reasonable position regarding coverage, and having availed itself of legal process to seek a judicial declaration of its rights and obligations in a setting that did not ask the court for any factual finding that could affect the LLC's underlying liability exposure,<sup>4</sup> Zurich did nothing that could possibly give the LLC an ounce of support for its bad faith counterclaim. The Court of Appeals was correct to affirm the trial court on the record before it.

## B. Dan Paulson Distinguished.

The Court of Appeals, and the trial court before it, properly considered this Court's decision, *Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Dan Paulson Constr., Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d 903, 169 P.3d 1 (2007), and rejected its application to the facts of this case. *Dan Paulson* is distinguishable on many levels and it certainly does not categorically preclude insurers from seeking a declaratory judgment ruling regarding coverage before the underlying liability case concludes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Compare, for example, a matter in which an insurer, before the liability case against its insured resolves, seeks a factual determination in the coverage case that its insured intended to harm a claimant to enforce a policy's intentional harm exclusion.

In *Dan Paulson*, Mutual of Enumclaw inserted itself directly into an underlying proceeding by issuing, *ex parte* (without notifying its insured), comprehensive subpoenas to the arbitrator at a time when no perfected separate declaratory judgment action was pending between it and its insured. Mutual of Enumclaw's conduct, this Court found, created uncertainty over prejudicing of the arbitrator. According to this Court, the insurer's actions constituted direct interference with the arbitrator and interjected coverage issues into the arbitration proceeding. Then, after learning of the subpoena, Mutual of Enumclaw's insured vigorously objected, as did the arbitrator, but Mutual of Enumclaw refused to back down. Nothing even remotely similar occurred in this case.

Here, the LLC did not protest the filing of Zurich's motion. Here, the LLC's claim that Zurich's filing constituted bad faith first surfaced months afterwards—after Ledcor made the argument. Here, Zurich did not "interject coverage issues" into the COA case. Zurich did nothing to prejudice the decision-maker in that action or otherwise affect the LLC's uninsured liability exposure. Although Zurich's motion sought application of its continuing injury endorsement, which required allegations in the COA case that property damage preexisted the issuance of Zurich's first policy in 2005, both the COA in its complaint against the LLC, and the LLC in its third-party complaint against Ledcor, made such allegations. CP 1681-88;

CP 277-92. Because there is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision in this case and *Dan Paulson*, Admiral Way fails to satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(1).

#### IV. CONCLUSION

On a well-developed record, the trial court and Court of Appeals concluded Zurich did not act in bad faith. Zurich's motion for summary judgment, filed after two years of defending the LLC, did not rely on evidence that Zurich "marshalled" or otherwise developed independently to the detriment of its putative insured, the LLC. Instead Zurich relied on the fact that The Admiral was a condominium—which was not a contested issue in the COA case, and the allegations made by the COA and the LLC itself (as well as by Ledcor) that property damage commenced well before Zurich's policies came into effect in 2005. Indeed, that was a proposition with which the LLC and Ledcor obviously agreed, as evidenced by their pursuit of coverage under pre-2005 policies.

Even if Zurich somehow breached a duty of good faith to the LLC, which was not its insured, by filing its motion for summary judgment four days before a second mediation—there is not one scintilla of evidence that Zurich's motion, which relied on the public record exclusively, caused Marc Gartin to contribute his own funds to the underlying settlement or otherwise resulted in harm of any kind. Admiral Way does not show that a matter of

substantial public interest is involved and thus also fails to establish grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).